# Harnessing the Inflation Reduction Act:

Case Studies in Maximizing Local Economic Benefits

By Alí R. Bustamante and Joe Peck



#### **About the Authors**

**Alí R. Bustamante** is the director of the Worker Power and Economic Security program at the Roosevelt Institute, where he focuses on how public policy can structure markets around both economic and social value and empower Americans through the provision of public goods and stronger labor protections. Prior to joining Roosevelt, he served as chief economist at the Louisiana Workforce Commission, senior research associate at the Southern Economic Advancement Project, and as faculty at Florida International University, the University of New Orleans, and Loyola University New Orleans. Bustamante earned a BA and PhD from the University of Miami, where he specialized in political economy.

**Joe Peck** is a research analyst at the Urban Institute. His research examines how policies can improve economic mobility for those in work, with a recent focus on industrial legislation. He has previously worked at the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, the Yale Sociology Department, the Center for Economic and Policy Research, and under Katherine S. Newman, provost and professor of public policy at the University of California, Berkeley. He holds a BA from Yale University, where he studied economic history.

#### **Acknowledgments**

The authors would like to thank Suzanne Kahn, Elizabeth Pancotti, Todd Tucker, and Kate Bahn for their feedback and insights. Matt Hughes, Aastha Uprety, and Oskar Dye-Furstenberg also contributed to this project.

This report was made possible with the generous support of the David and Lucile Packard Foundation. The findings and conclusions contained within are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the positions or policies of the foundation.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	4
Leveraging Industrial Policy to Benefit Communities	5
Cartersville, Georgia	9
Blythewood, South Carolina	10
Marshall, Michigan	12
New Iberia, Louisiana	13
El Cajon, California	14
Discussion	15
Conclusion	17
References	18

#### Introduction

Industrial policy is and has always been about targeting sector growth to achieve structural transformations in the economy (Juhász, Lane, and Rodrik 2023; Tucker 2019). The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) aims to do just that: driving forward an economic structure that reduces carbon emissions and energy costs, strengthens national security, and creates good jobs (White House 2023a; White House 2023b).

The IRA is, at its core, a subsidy package that could total trillions of dollars in public investment aimed to crowd in many multiples more of private

The Inflation Reduction Act's investments are anticipated to create more than 100,000 jobs in targeted manufacturing sectors across 37 states and have the potential to drastically transform communities.

investment dollars in domestic energy production over a 10-year window (<u>Inflation Reduction Act 2022</u>; <u>Goldman Sachs 2023</u>). These investments are anticipated to create more than 100,000 jobs in targeted manufacturing sectors across 37 states (<u>US Department of Energy 2024</u>) and have the potential to drastically transform communities.

Once finalized, the IRA's investments will provide Americans with energy production that is cleaner and cheaper than the status quo, increase the supply of renewable energy products, and reduce emissions within renewable energy product manufacturing.

For communities to reap all the potential benefits of this tremendous job creation, they will need to organize. The IRA incentivizes (and in some cases requires) that firms receiving tax credits, loans, or grants adhere to the prevailing wage requirements under the Davis-Bacon Act that establish minimum wage rates for construction labor (US Department of Labor 2023), as well as provisions promoting the utilization of apprentices in construction labor (DOL 2024). Beyond construction, some of the IRA's loans and grants programs give preference or priority to projects that involve collective bargaining agreements, labor peace agreements, and the inclusion of workers from disadvantaged communities. This means that only firms that utilize loans or grants under the IRA are incentivized to engage in high-road hiring practices for their manufacturing jobs, while the bulk of firms relying on the tax credit provisions alone lack any incentive. As a result, the majority of the 100,000-plus manufacturing jobs created by the IRA will lack any mechanism—guardrail or guideline—that ensures created jobs are good, union jobs.¹

This report analyzes five case studies to show the implications of the IRA's weak labor standards on how local labor markets are likely to experience industrial policy investments and provides policy recommendations aimed at improving the IRA's impact on communities. The following sections in this report:

- Explain how the jobs created through industrial policies can benefit communities;
- Discuss how industrial investments spurred by the IRA are likely to impact the labor markets of five different communities across the country; and
- Recommend that prioritizing community engagement and democratic governance in the implementation of industrial investments can promote good jobs and deliver substantial economic benefits to local communities.

<sup>1</sup> This discrepancy between construction and manufacturing labor is itself a result of the US Supreme Court's gutting of the Walsh-Healey act, which had applied high-road labor standards to manufacturing firms that benefited from federal dollars. See <u>Donahue 1964</u>.

# Leveraging Industrial Policy to Benefit Communities

The explicit goals of the IRA are to grow America's renewable energy manufacturing industries and to confer economic benefits to communities across the country, especially those that have been historically reliant on or harmed by fossil fuels. With the bulk of renewable energy projects announced after the IRA still in the planning and/or construction phase, communities have sufficient, though depleting, time to leverage these investments to maximize benefits to workers and their local economies.

Post-IRA, the average clean energy project will create 440 manufacturing jobs (<u>DOE 2024</u>). With low unemployment projected into the long run (<u>Federal Open Market Committee 2024</u>), firms will face significant challenges in hiring due to a reduced pool of available workers—making vital the assistance of local stakeholders to effectively staff their manufacturing plants. The large scale of job creation from these investments presents two opportunities to communities: First, it provides a mechanism to drastically influence the stock of quality jobs available in the local labor market. Second, it empowers community stakeholders to leverage local workforce development, education, and training capacity that can ease firm hiring challenges in return for job quality commitments.

How communities engage with firms in addressing their labor needs will determine how much they benefit from incoming clean energy investments. Our analysis, based on DOE data, shows that large projects (those creating at least 500 direct jobs) account for 28.1 percent of all projects and 72.5 percent of all jobs created by post-IRA clean energy investments (see Table 1) (DOE 2024). Moderate-sized projects (100 to 499 workers) comprise half of all projects and a quarter of all jobs, while small projects represent 21.9 percent of projects and just 2.7 percent of all jobs created. The preponderance of large and moderate-sized projects means that the vast majority of post-IRA clean energy investments will have considerable impacts on local labor markets.

**Table 1:** IRA Projects by Jobs Created

Jobs created	Less than 100	100-249	250-499	500-999	1,000-1,999	2,000-4,000
Share of all projects	21.9%	31.3%	18.8%	16.8%	7.0%	4.3%
Share of all jobs	2.7%	10.8%	13.9%	24.5%	22.0%	26.0%

 ${\it US\ Department\ of\ Energy.\ Author's\ analysis.\ Roosevelt\ Institute.}$ 

Additionally, data show that 83.3 percent of all projects and 88.3 percent of all jobs created by post-IRA clean energy investments are concentrated in the battery, electric vehicle, and solar panel manufacturing industries (see Table 2). These three industries also represent 84 percent of all large and moderate-sized projects post-IRA. Electric vehicle projects will likely be supported by the Advanced Technology Vehicle Manufacturing loan program of the IRA, which makes \$3 billion available for direct loans to qualifying projects, and by the \$2 billion in grants available in the Domestic Manufacturing Conversion Grants program. Battery manufacturing projects and some electric vehicle projects will largely be supported by the IRA's Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit and Clean Electricity Investment Credit, which provide tax credits for the production of qualifying battery components and energy storage technology. Lastly, solar panel manufacturing projects will likely also benefit from the IRA's Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit as well as the Qualifying Advanced Energy Project Credit, depending on the solar panel components produced.

Together, the data suggest that the majority of jobs created will be within three manufacturing industries with distinct workforce needs. Similarly, the communities—spanning 37 states—absorbing IRA investments will differ greatly from each other in labor force composition, wage and labor standards, and union density. No single case study can encompass the full range of potential economic

How communities engage with firms in addressing their labor needs will determine how they benefit from IRA investments.

impacts post-IRA clean energy investments might have on communities. However, the following five case studies illustrate how communities are likely to experience the high levels of job growth stimulated by post-IRA clean energy investments in the absence of strong federal labor standards. These case studies suggest that local communities should push firms to raise the quality of jobs and prioritize the hiring of disadvantaged workers in order to improve local labor market outcomes.

Table 2: IRA Projects by Industry

Industry	Batteries	Electric Vehicles	Solar	Wind	Heat Pumps/ Clean HVAC	Hydrogen	Nuclear
Share of all projects	41.0%	23.0%	19.1%	5.5%	6.3%	4.3%	2.3%
Share of all jobs	44.9%	21.6%	22.0%	3.9%	2.9%	3.6%	1.2%

US Department of Energy. Author's analysis. Roosevelt Institute.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

We obtained a list of projects eligible for the Inflation Reduction Act incentives from the DOE's public database of private-sector investments in clean energy since President Joe Biden assumed office (DOE 2024). The data list the investing firm's name, clean energy technology (e.g., solar), manufactured product (e.g., panels), size of investment in dollars, total expected jobs created for each investment, location (including city, state, and geographic coordinates), and whether the announcement was made prior to or after the passage of the Inflation Reduction Act. We then link the manufactured product to the most appropriate industry classification under the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). Since the data include pre- and post-IRA announcements, we do not include the former.

Additionally, because most announced investments are prospective and are either in the planning or construction phases, it is possible that some clean energy projects listed do not ultimately utilize IRA subsidies, may be downsized, or canceled altogether.

For each industry, we extracted jobs and earnings multipliers from Lightcast's input-output (I-O) model – a gravitational flows multi-regional social account matrix model (MR-SAM) (Crapuchettes, Robinson, and James 2017). The model estimates the magnitude of ripple effects that a change in jobs in one industry (such as an increase in battery manufacturing jobs) has on the employment and earnings of other industries in the region (such as a need for additional workers in retail and service sectors to support increased consumer spending resulting from the influx of manufacturing jobs. These estimates help provide a comprehensive view of the total job creation that industrial investments may spur in local labor markets.

We also introduce a novel approach to estimate the likelihood that unemployed workers in local communities will be able to access the jobs directly created by post-IRA clean energy investments.<sup>2</sup> For each metropolitan statistical area (MSA) absorbing an industrial investment, we estimate the 2023 monthly average of unemployed workers and the occupation they previously held by analyzing microdata from the BLS Current Population Survey retrieved from IPUMS CPS. We then estimate the occupational distribution of jobs created by investments at each MSA by mapping the total expected jobs created for each investment onto the industry-specific annual staffing pattern information for US firms from the BLS National Employment Matrix (BLS 2023). Together, the data provide each location with the total jobs created by occupation and the total unemployed workers by the occupation of the job they held before becoming unemployed.

In order to determine how well the attributes of unemployed workers match with the characteristics of jobs being created we utilized the O\*NET 28.3 Database. O\*NET is a primary source of occupational information collected from job incumbents and occupational experts.<sup>3</sup> The database contains descriptors of the knowledge, skills, and abilities associated with workers in a given occupation and measures of the relative importance of those descriptors to the occupation. For example, an assembly line worker in an EV plant has knowledge of production processes and tools, monitoring and active listening skills, and the abilities of information ordering and manual dexterity. We focus on the most important occupational descriptors by only including those with an importance score of three or higher on a scale from one to five, where one is of low importance and five is of high importance.

We conduct attribute matching via cosine similarity using the O\*NET data to create a similarity matrix to quantify the match quality between occupations on a range from 0 to 1, where 1 indicates a perfect match and 0 indicates no match. Therefore, a number closer to 1 reflects greater commonality among the most important knowledge, skills, and abilities associated with each occupation. For each location, we then create a subset similarity matrix showing how well the attributes of unemployed workers—based on their previously held occupation—matched with the descriptors associated with workers in the occupations that make up the clean energy industry or industries investing in the area.

For example, Ford's announced battery manufacturing plant in Marshall, MI, is estimated to create 519 jobs for electrical and electronic equipment assemblers. Unemployed workers in the Battle Creek, MI, metropolitan area who were previously employed as team assemblers—assembly/production line workers—have a similarity score of 0.64, two times greater than the similarity score of unemployed workers who used to work as fast food cooks, 0.32.

We estimate the overall match share of unemployed workers in each location—the likelihood that unemployed workers across all occupations will be good matches for job vacancies created by IRA projects—by employing a generalized matching function that calculates job matches for unemployed workers by summing the product of cosine similarity scores and the number of available jobs by occupation. The estimated matches were then normalized by the number of unemployed persons in each occupation to obtain both occupation-specific match shares and the overall match share.

Generally, a match share with a ratio above 1.0 suggests that there are more matches available than the number of unemployed workers, indicating a relatively favorable job market for those seeking employment, while a ratio below 1.0 would indicate a less favorable job market. For example, say an unemployed worker previously employed as a team assembler has a match score of 0.94 compared to 0.67 for those previously working as fast food cooks. This means that, on average, a former team assembler is expected to match with about one available job, while the average former fast food cook will have a relatively low chance of finding a job created by the IRA project due to the mismatch between their attributes and the characteristics of jobs being created.

Lastly, we selected the five case studies using a purposive sampling approach in which we sought to maximize regional variation in the location of cases. Our five cases are located in five distinct states: one on the West Coast, one on the East Coast, one in the Midwest, one in the Gulf region, and one in the American South.

<sup>2</sup> Approach and methodology based on Hall and Schulhofer-Wohl 2018

<sup>3</sup> Examples include Acemoglu and Autor 2011 and Kochhar 2023

#### THE CURRENT LABOR MARKET CONTEXT

Nationally, industrial policy investments are being deployed amid one of the strongest labor markets Americans have ever experienced (<u>Horpedahl 2023</u>). The US unemployment rate has remained at or below 4 percent for more than two years (<u>FRED 2024a</u>), there are 2.5 million more jobs across the entire economy than before the pandemic (<u>FRED 2024b</u>), and average hourly wages have outpaced the rate of inflation for 13 consecutive months (<u>FRED 2024c</u>).

The tight labor market has changed employer recruiting and hiring practices (Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond 2022), substantially increasing the time and effort spent on hiring workers. Even as the number of unemployed workers per job opening stands at its pre-pandemic level of 0.8 (US Bureau of Labor Statistics n.d.), wages over the intervening period have grown more than prices have. This trend has been particularly acute for the lowest-paid: Those in the bottom decile of earners saw real earnings grow by 12.1 percent between 2019 and 2023 (Gould and deCourcy 2024), reflecting workers' increased market power. During this period, the median wage grew by a more modest 3 percent. Additionally, the heightened competition for workers among employers driven by a strong labor market has led recruiters to target workers they previously underutilized, such as military veterans and individuals with disabilities (Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond 2022).

However, labor market tightness is not a cure-all for the erosion in labor protections and work conditions that workers have experienced over the past 40 years, nor for the prevalence of discriminatory labor practices that marginalized workers still endure (Bustamante 2023). For example, the Southern economic development strategy continues to exploit Black workers by suppressing wages and the right to unionize (Childers 2024). Similarly, occupational segregation remains entrenched (DeMaria 2024), leading to lower employment and wage outcomes for women and people of color relative to men and white workers.

Based on workers' experience with a hot labor market during the past two years, the creation of jobs by the post-IRA clean energy investments alone should not be expected to resolve local structural economic inequities, given the absence of strong federal labor standards in all provisions of the law. Instead, addressing inequities in local labor markets requires purposeful and deliberate efforts agreed upon by firms and community stakeholders.

Our analysis focuses on unemployed workers because they represent workers with structural barriers to work that reduce the efficiency of the job-matching process, even when labor markets are hot. These barriers can include limited access to training, lack of access to quality child care, poor transportation infrastructure, and discrimination based on age, race, gender, or justice involvement (Rodgers III and Kassens 2022). We argue that prioritizing the hiring of unemployed, disadvantaged workers by firms pursuing clean energy investments can complement the ongoing community efforts to reduce the structural barriers to employment.

Key to our analysis are estimates of the likelihood that unemployed workers will be matched with available job vacancies based on their skills, abilities, and knowledge accumulation relative to the skills, abilities, and knowledge accumulation associated with jobs created by post-IRA clean energy investments. Where the likelihood of employment is low, the salience of targeted training and hiring programs to increase job matches is greatest. Furthermore, understanding where structural barriers exist is crucial for developing comprehensive strategies that ensure all segments of the workforce can benefit from the job opportunities created by these investments. As a result, policymakers, workforce development agencies, and stakeholders seeking to enhance the inclusivity and efficiency of the job market should heed the findings of this report and support communities in their call for clean energy investments to deliver good jobs and substantial economic benefits to local communities.

#### Cartersville, Georgia

There are two post-IRA clean energy projects in Cartersville, Georgia. Qcells's proposed \$2.3 billion solar panel production plant will create 2,500 jobs, and SK Innovation's proposed \$5 billion battery production plant will create 3,500 jobs, both impacting the Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell, GA, metropolitan statistical area (MSA) (Penn 2023).

The South Korean solar panel company Qcells has had a presence in Georgia since it started work in 2019 on its Dalton, GA, plant (about 50 miles north of Cartersville), whereafter it became the largest producer of solar panels in the western hemisphere (Norris 2023). With its existing two factories in Dalton, Qcells projects it can manufacture enough solar panels to produce over 5 gigawatts of power a year—40 percent of the existing solar capacity in the United States (Amy 2023a). After the completion of the Cartersville facility and another factory in Dalton, the company projects it can produce 8.4 gigawatts of energy with the solar panels it produces. These investments are on track to contribute to the 33 percent annual growth rate that the solar panel industry has enjoyed over the last decade (Southern Environmental Law Center 2023).

Like Qcells, SK Innovation is one of the largest manufacturing firms in Georgia (<u>Schilling 2023</u>). Its battery investments in Georgia stem from certain domestic production requirements on electric vehicles and their batteries outlined in the Inflation Reduction Act (<u>Amy 2023b</u>).

State support for federal efforts to incentivize solar investment predates the IRA: Sen. Jon Ossoff's (D-GA) Solar Energy Manufacturing for America Act was later incorporated within it (Solar Energy Manufacturing for America Act 2021; Penn 2023). Now, along with other policies, net electricity generation in Georgia is 93 percent higher than in 2009 (Georgia Business Journal n.d.).

The proximity of these factories to Georgia Tech could help strengthen the growth of clean energy industries in Georgia, as the university has research capacity that could help improve Qcells's materials processing and exploration (Norris 2023) as well as facilitate workforce development across the green sector. Quick Start, a workforce training program organized as part of the state's technical college system, is another driver of training for jobs in the solar panel and battery manufacturing industries (Takemura 2023).

In 2023, the Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell MSA averaged a monthly unemployment rate of 3.1 percent with 101,000 workers unemployed of the area's 3.23 million workers. The MSA's unemployment rate is below the national average of 4.1 percent and lower than the pre-pandemic rate of 3.4 percent in 2019. This means that the local labor market is likely to make hiring difficult for Qcells and SK Innovation and may require them to intensify recruiting efforts and reach out to historically marginalized workers.

In 2023, the concentration of Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell employment in production occupations was just 83 percent of the national average. Production occupations include jobs such as assemblers and fabricators, food processing workers, and machinists and welders. Production occupations in the area paid average hourly wages of \$21.85, which is 32.1 percent below the \$32.17 average for all occupations and 4.6 percent lower than the national average for production occupations of \$22.90. However, the 6,000 jobs created by QCells and SK Innovation span 135 occupations that will offer an average hourly wage of \$27.13, higher than the average of production occupations and above the \$26.24 average hourly wage for the Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell area.

Data show that Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell's labor force is 43.6 percent non-Hispanic white, —which is less than the national labor force average of 58.3 percent. Furthermore, while 34.4 percent of the labor force is Black or African American, the unemployment rate for Black workers in the area is 2.4 times higher than for white workers. Given that Black workers account for 53.4 percent of all unemployed workers, prioritizing Black unemployed workers in hiring practices may be an effective way to leverage QCells and SK Innovation's investment to reduce entrenched racial disparities in the local labor market.

We find that, on average, each unemployed worker is expected to have approximately 2.33 job matches, reflecting a high likelihood of employment. The high overall match share of unemployed workers in Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell is driven by both the large amount of jobs created by the QCells and SK Innovation's investment and by the high level of competencies that unemployed workers will be able to apply to newly created jobs.

Data show that 67.5 percent of unemployed workers will have at least one job match due to their existing skills, knowledge, and abilities, but the remaining 32.5 percent of unemployed workers will have trouble securing a job with QCells and SK Innovation. Among workers with low match shares are workers formerly employed as cashiers, retail salespersons, maids and housekeeping cleaners, and postal service mail carriers. This finding suggests that the existing workforce development and training infrastructure in Atlanta is improving the employment outcomes of most unemployed workers, but many are still being left behind.

Collectively, the QCells and SK Innovation investments are expected to create an additional 34,000 jobs in the Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell area due to increased demand in local industries that will support battery and solar panel manufacturing and from greater consumer spending—increasing total employment in the area by 1.1 percent.

Yet, QCells and SK Innovation are setting a bad example for other growing industries by failing to hire union contractors and signing on to project labor agreements. Project labor agreements are pre-hire collective bargaining agreements in which construction unions and firms establish the terms and conditions of employment for construction projects ahead of time. Without these agreements, firms can employ nonunion construction workers and unilaterally set wages and working conditions, undermining job quality. It is not too late for the community to pressure QCells and SK innovation to change course and lead as high-road employers invested in the well-being of local workers.

#### Blythewood, South Carolina

Scout Motors is a US-based subsidiary of the Volkswagen Group. In advance of announcing Scout Motors's investment in Blythewood, SC, state leaders offered a generous package of incentives to the company amounting to \$1.3 billion (Lavelle 2024). This includes the construction of a new interchange on Interstate 77 adjacent to the complex and a new railway bridge to extend an existing Norfolk Southern line into the facility. Further, the state will award Scout a \$200 million loan to undertake extensive soil stabilization work needed for the factory's foundation (Thomas 2024). South Carolina Governor Henry McMaster has also prioritized the construction of electric vehicle infrastructure in the state and the improvement of state workforce development for manufacturing jobs (South Carolina Office of the Governor 2022).

Currently, Scout Motors is not participating in the IRA's Advanced Technology Vehicle Manufacturing Loan Program, but it is slated to receive the Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit, which sets credit amounts based on the quantity of eligible components—such as batteries, solar cells, and solar modules—produced and the total watts of energy capacity achieved.

Scout's proposed \$2 billion electric vehicle production plant is one of 14 such battery and electric vehicle manufacturing investments announced nationally since the passage of the IRA (DOE 2024). It will create 4,000 jobs in Blythewood, impacting the Columbia, SC, MSA. Our economic projections estimate that this investment will create an additional 77,600 jobs in the Columbia area due to increased industrial demand and greater consumer spending in the region—significantly increasing total employment in the area by 19.2 percent.

In 2023, the Columbia, SC, MSA averaged a monthly unemployment rate of 2.8 percent, with 11,600 workers unemployed of the area's 414,000 workers. The Columbia area's unemployment rate is considerably below the national average unemployment rate of 4.1 percent and slightly higher than the pre-pandemic rate of 2.6 percent in 2019. Thus, the local labor market is likely to make hiring difficult for Scout and may require Scout to bolster recruiting efforts and target historically marginalized workers.

Additionally, the concentration of Columbia's employment in production occupations was 1.02 times the national average, similar to the national average. Production occupations paid average hourly wages of \$22.02, 16 percent below the \$26.22 average for all occupations and 3.8 percent lower than the national average for production occupations of \$22.90. However, the 4,000 jobs created by Scout span 87 occupations and will offer an average hourly wage of \$23.93. This is evidence that Scout's investment carries the potential to increase the average wages of all workers, including production workers, in the Columbia area.

Richland County, where Blythewood is located, is home to the youngest workforce in the state as well as the University of South Carolina. On top of the aforementioned incentives offered by the government of South Carolina, the state has offered to build and operate a job training center on the grounds of the Scout complex (Lavelle 2024). This will form part of a larger workforce development push by the state as it seeks to take advantage of the growing electric vehicle and battery manufacturing sectors. The technical college system is facilitating on-site training tailored to each company that has recently invested in the state (Holdman 2024).

Data show that Scout's investment has the opportunity to address the racial disparities in Columbia's unemployed population. Columbia's labor force is 53.6 percent non-Hispanic white—meaning there are more people of color than the national labor force average of 58.3 percent white, not Hispanic. Furthermore, while 34.4 percent of the labor force is Black or African American, the unemployment rate for Black workers is 2.3 times higher than that of white workers.

We estimate that, on average, each unemployed worker is expected to have approximately 4.94 job matches, reflecting a very high likelihood of employment. The high overall match share of unemployed workers in Columbia is driven primarily by the small number of unemployed workers relative to the large number of jobs created by Scout's investment. With Black workers accounting for 54 percent of all unemployed workers in the Columbia area, Scout's investment can help reduce racial disparities in the Columbia labor market—if Black workers are prioritized.

Yet, like much of the American South, the marginalization of Black workers in Columbia is intrinsically linked with labor policies aimed at suppressing wages and union density (Childers 2024). At 2.3 percent, South Carolina has the lowest union membership rate in the country (US BLS 2024). Yet, as foreign investment has flowed into the region to capitalize on the relatively lower wages and low union density, local unions are looking to increase their worker organizing efforts (Archote 2023). The United Auto Workers (UAW), with input from the German IG Metall union, have secured commitments from the management of Volkswagen that they will be neutral in any worker organizing drives at the new plant (Lawrence 2023).

The UAW's relationships with domestic automakers, including Ford, General Motors, and Stellantis, offer lessons on how unions support the effective implementation of the IRA and improve workforce development in the auto industry. During last fall's collective bargaining session, the UAW was able to secure commitments from Ford that its planned Marshall, MI, battery manufacturing plant will be represented by the union—solidifying the UAW's investment in developing industry-recognized credentials for battery manufacturing jobs and ensuring that UAW members will bring best practices in battery manufacturing to the Marshall plant.

## Marshall, Michigan

Ford's proposed \$2.2 billion battery production plant will create 1,700 jobs in Marshall, MI, impacting the Battle Creek, MI, MSA. Initially, Ford planned to invest \$3.5 billion in developing the Blue Oval Battery Park facility, which would have created 2,500 jobs and produced 35 gigawatt hours of batteries annually (White 2023). The company scaled back these ambitions in 2023, following worse-than-expected sales of electric vehicles partly induced by rising interest rates (LeBlanc and Noble 2023). The revised plan will still see the Marshall plant produce 20 gigawatt hours of batteries yearly. The investment is part of a wider push among car companies to expand their domestic battery manufacturing base, spurred by the IRA's incentives (Jordyn, Beggin, and Hall 2023).

Ford's plan to invest in Michigan was buoyed by a \$1.75 billion incentive package offered by the state, which included \$630 million in incentives for land preparation and infrastructure development and \$772 million in tax credits provided through the Michigan Strategic Fund (Steele 2023). The state is also set to provide grants worth \$120 million from the Michigan Strategic Site Readiness Program, \$210 million from the Michigan Critical Industry Program, and \$36 million from the Jobs for Michigan Investment Fund Loan Program (Steele 2023). While this still must be renegotiated in light of Ford's downsizing announcement, the central pillars of the deal look likely to remain. Additionally, Ford is set to qualify for the IRA's Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit.

In 2023, the Battle Creek, MI, metropolitan area averaged a monthly unemployment rate of 4.3 percent, with 2,700 workers unemployed of the area's 62,000 workers. While above the national average unemployment rate of 4.1 percent, the Battle Creek area's unemployment rate is in line with the pre-pandemic rate of 4.2 percent in 2019. Additionally, the concentration of Battle Creek employment in production occupations was 2.33 times the national average—suggesting that manufacturing is a key industrial driver of employment in the area. Two of the largest manufacturing firms in the area are Denso Manufacturing Michigan—an automotive components manufacturer employing about 2,500—and the Kellogg Company, which produces cereals and snacks, with about 2,000 employees (Battle Creek Unlimited n.d.).

Overall, production occupations paid average hourly wages of \$22.54, 5 percent below the \$23.73 average for all occupations and 1.6 percent lower than the national average for production occupations of \$22.90. However, the 1,700 jobs created by Ford and spanning 127 occupations—such as electrical assemblers, fabricators, and machinists—will offer an average hourly wage of \$25.05, potentially driving up average wages for production occupations and other occupations in the broader Battle Creek area.

Data show that Battle Creek's labor force is 77 percent non-Hispanic white—much greater than the national average of 58.3 percent. Furthermore, while 10 percent of the labor force is Black or African American, the unemployment rate for Black workers is 6.2 times that of white workers. Related to the area's racial inequities may be the high unemployment rate for workers without a high school diploma, 12.2 percent, compared to the national average of 6.5 percent.

We find that, on average, each unemployed worker is expected to have approximately 1.35 job matches, reflecting a moderately high likelihood of employment. The overall match share of unemployed workers in Battle Creek is due to the small number of unemployed workers relative to the large number of jobs created by Ford's investment. Additionally, our economic projections estimate that this investment will create an additional 8,900 jobs in the Battle Creek area, fueled in part by increased supply chain demand and greater consumer spending—significantly increasing total employment in the area by 18.7 percent. This underscores the need to prioritize the recruitment of Black workers, who account for 37.8 percent of all unemployed workers in Battle Creek, and expand training efforts that target unemployed workers in order to reduce racial disparities and drastically improve local labor market outcomes.

The presence of organized labor at the plant can aid this process: Ford has already granted the UAW the right to organize employees at the new facility without a vote (White 2023). In particular, the UAW's participation in the DOE's Battery Workforce Initiative has proven critical to shaping standardized training guidelines related to national industry-recognized credentials for battery manufacturing jobs and the development of registered apprenticeships for battery machine operators (DOE 2024).

Ford will also benefit from the existing system of higher educational institutions and workforce development programs across the southeast of the state. Kellogg Community College, for example, already offers a set of skilled-trade training opportunities with an eye toward the jobs that will be created through Ford's investment (Choose Marshall n.d.). The company has also been looking to court local students to its ranks, and the Marshall Area Developmental Alliance is working with schools to upskill the local workforce (Pitchure 2024).

# New Iberia, Louisiana

First Solar's proposed \$1.1 billion solar panel production plant will create 700 jobs in New Iberia, LA, as the company looks set to increase its manufacturing capacity from 3.5 gigawatts of solar-powered electricity to 14 gigawatts annually (<u>Business Wire 2023</u>). This will be the company's fifth factory in the United States and will likely be the largest capital investment in the area's history (<u>Korman 2023</u>).

In order to attract such investment to New Iberia, the state of Louisiana offered First Solar \$30 million worth of grants to cover infrastructure improvement and site development (Williams 2023). These will be contingent on the company meeting certain investment, employee compensation, and employment targets. Additionally, the company is planning to take advantage of the IRA's Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit.

This investment will have ripple effects throughout the Lafayette, LA, MSA. In addition to the jobs announced by First Solar, our economic projections estimate that this investment will create an additional 4,400 jobs in the Lafayette area as a result of increased supply chain demand and consumer spending. As a result, total employment is expected to increase by 2.5 percent.

In 2023, the Lafayette, LA, metropolitan area averaged a monthly unemployment rate of 3.5 percent with 7,400 workers unemployed of the area's 214,000 workers. The Lafayette area's unemployment rate is below the national average of 4.1 percent and much lower than the pre-pandemic rate of 4.6 percent in 2019. The low unemployment rate indicates that First Solar will likely have to expand recruiting efforts and reach out to historically marginalized workers to successfully hire the necessary workers.

Additionally, the concentration of Lafayette employment in production occupations—such as machinists, assemblers, and welders—was 1.18 times the national average. This means that production jobs are more common in Lafayette than the national average, making it relatively easier to find workers with the necessary skills and experience to fill the jobs created by First Solar. Production occupations paid average hourly wages of \$22.54, 5 percent below the \$23.73 average for all occupations, and 1.6 percent lower than the national average for production occupations of \$22.90—suggesting that workers may earn higher wages outside of production jobs.

The 700 jobs created by First Solar span 105 occupations and will offer an average hourly wage of \$27.57, higher than the average of production occupations and above the \$26.24 average hourly wage that unemployed workers were previously earning in the Lafayette area. This is evidence that the First Solar investment carries the potential to increase average wages in the Lafayette area by creating a greater number of higher-paying production jobs, such as machine assemblers and machine tool operators, than are typically found in the area.

We estimate that, on average, each unemployed worker is expected to have approximately 1.08 job matches, reflecting a moderate likelihood of employment. Yet, a closer look reveals that 65 percent of unemployed workers will have trouble securing a job with First Solar—indicated by a match score below 1. Among workers with low match shares are workers formerly employed as retail salespersons, host/hostesses, personal care aides, and construction laborers. This finding suggests that large investments are needed to enhance Lafayette's workforce development and training infrastructure.

Data show that the First Solar investment has the opportunity to address the Lafayette community's challenges with racial inequities, poverty, and low educational attainment in its unemployed population. Lafayette's labor force is 68.3 percent non-Hispanic white—less racially diverse than the national average of 58.3 percent white. In addition, while 21.1 percent of the labor force is Black or African American, Black workers are 1.56 times more likely to be unemployed than white workers. Further, 44.1 percent of Lafayette's unemployed population is experiencing poverty, considerably higher than the national average of 26.6 percent. Related to this dynamic is the high share of unemployed workers without a high school diploma, 25.5 percent, compared to the national average of 14.1 percent.

Stakeholders should push to leverage First Solar's investment to address entrenched racial disparities in the region while also lowering the incidence of poverty. As the First Solar plant gets built, strategic efforts will be needed to connect disadvantaged workers to training opportunities that can facilitate their path toward clean energy jobs, and the community will likely need to push for them. Simultaneously, as part of the incentives package offered to First Solar, the state of Louisiana maintains a workforce development scheme that can help potential workers train for new solar-related jobs (Williams 2023). LED FastStart, a state economic development program, will help First Solar screen, recruit, and train employees (Louisiana Economic Development n.d.).

Some of these efforts have already started to materialize. First Solar is coordinating its workforce development initiatives with South Louisiana Community College to align its manufacturing needs with the educational resources available locally (Anderson 2023). The presence of the University of Louisiana at Lafayette also stands to provide research and training support to First Solar, in addition to providing a pool of skilled graduates for the company to employ (University of Louisiana Lafayette 2023). The Louisiana Solar Energy Lab at the university, for example, is one of the largest outdoor solar testing labs in the Southeast (ULL 2022).

## El Cajon, California

In 2022, the electric vehicle company Ryvid received a \$20 million grant through the California Competes tax program (CalCompetes) to increase electric vehicle production in the state (Toll 2022). As a result of these funds, the company started a process of establishing three new facilities in southern California: an electric motorcycle manufacturing plant in San Bernardino, a headquarters in Los Angeles County's Hawaiian Gardens, and a lithium battery manufacturing facility in El Cajon. At the time, the company projected that these three sites would collectively create 900 jobs.

In 2023, Ryvid announced plans to build on these investments. The company's proposed \$84 million battery production plant will create 650 jobs in El Cajon, CA, impacting the San Diego-Carlsbad, CA, MSA. Our economic projections estimate that this investment will create an additional 3,400 jobs in the San Diego-Carlsbad area due to greater supply chain demand and consumer spending—modestly increasing total employment in the area by 0.3 percent. Like most other battery manufacturing investments, Ryvid is set to qualify for the Advanced Manufacturing Production Credit.

In 2023, the San Diego-Carlsbad, CA, metropolitan area averaged a monthly unemployment rate of 3.9 percent, with 62,000 workers unemployed of the area's 1.6 million workers. The area's unemployment rate is below the national average unemployment rate of 4.1 percent and the pre-pandemic rate of 3.3 percent in 2019. Additionally, the concentration of San Diego-Carlsbad employment in production occupations was 0.77 times the national average, lower than the national average. Production occupations paid average hourly wages of \$24.55, 32.8 percent below the \$36.54 average for all occupations but 7.2 percent higher than the national average for production occupations of \$22.90.

Additionally, data show that San Diego-Carlsbad's labor force is 42.9 percent white, not Hispanic—less than the national labor force average of 58.3 percent white, not Hispanic. While 34.2 percent of the labor force is Hispanic, Hispanic workers are more likely to be unemployed than their white counterparts.

We find that, on average, each unemployed worker is expected to have approximately 0.41 job matches, reflecting a very low likelihood of employment. The overall low match share of unemployed workers in San Diego-Carlsbad is heavily influenced by the small number of jobs created by Ryvid's investment relative to the number of unemployed workers in the region. Data show that 95.6 percent of unemployed workers will have trouble securing a job with Ryvid, indicated by a match score below 1.

Recent workforce training developments may help bring unemployed workers closer to filling battery manufacturing jobs in the future. In 2024, the DOE awarded a grant to San Diego State University's Industrial Assessment Center to set up a new Center of Excellence to support education and training across clean energy sectors (Slane 2024). This new initiative is designed to improve educational clean energy programs in the region and coordinate with labor unions, apprenticeship programs, and workforce development groups to better prepare students for jobs in clean energy.

Ryvid's \$84 million announcement is one of eight such battery investments planned in San Diego County since the start of 2021—a solid foundation for Ryvid to build on. And it is not the only company to concurrently develop new energy storage facilities in the city (Fulcher 2023). In 2017, San Diego Gas & Electric finished constructing the nation's largest grid-tied lithium-ion battery system in Escondido, also in San Diego County, on the same day it opened a smaller facility in El Cajon (Geuss 2017).

#### **Discussion**

All five case studies show significant job creation potential as a result of post-IRA clean energy investments, with thousands of new jobs projected in each location, potentially driving up average wages in the regions. In New Iberia, LA, and Marshall, MI, the investments in solar panel and battery production could significantly increase local employment and wages, particularly for marginalized workers. Similarly, the large-scale investments in Blythewood, SC, and Cartersville, GA, demonstrate the potential of industrial policy investments to transform local labor markets, particularly when coupled with strategic efforts to connect disadvantaged workers to training opportunities. In El Cajon, CA, jobs in battery manufacturing seem unattainable to most unemployed workers, but recent efforts may change that outcome.

The case studies also illustrate the varying impacts of industrial policy investments across different communities, highlighting the need for strategic approaches to maximize local economic benefits. Each case study identifies specific local challenges related to racial inequities, educational attainment, and poverty levels among the unemployed population that may be addressed through targeted approaches.

The match share, which measures how the alignment between the skills of unemployed workers and the requirements of newly created jobs leads to job matches, varies across the case studies (see Figure 1). In Blythewood, SC, and Cartersville, GA, the average job matches per unemployed worker are notably higher than in other cases, at 4.94 and 2.33 respectively—indicating better alignment and existing workforce development infrastructure. Conversely, Marshall, MI, New Iberia, LA, and El Cajon, CA, show lower job matches, ranging from 1.35 to 0.41—emphasizing the need for strategic training efforts to address skills mismatches.

**Figure 1:** Average Job Matches per Unemployed Worker and Expected Job Creation by IRA Investment Type



US Department of Energy. Author's analysis. Roosevelt Institute.

Successful implementation of industrial policy investments must be closely tied to community engagement and effective workforce development strategies. For instance, First Solar's coordination with South Louisiana Community College and Ford's collaboration with local educational institutions in Michigan demonstrate how such partnerships can enhance training programs and improve job quality. Similarly, the presence and involvement of labor unions play a crucial role: In Marshall, MI, and Blythewood, SC, the UAW provides a model for how unions can support the effective implementation of the IRA by developing standardized training guidelines and securing commitments from firms to improve job quality. Prior Roosevelt work has shown that union involvement in training programs can be essential to ensuring the programs truly empower workers (Naidu and Sojourner 2020).

Our research supports the growing evidence that democratic governance and accountability strategies, including by involving community stakeholders in planning and implementation phases, can improve community economic impacts while potentially making projects more effective and efficient (Estevez 2023). The success of these strategies stems from the benefits that up-front public engagement can provide, as these projects tend to be better designed and achieve greater public cooperation. In particular, early engagement with community stakeholders can lead to the kinds of partnerships with local educational institutions described above (Spaulding and Blount 2018). These partnerships have the dual benefit of streamlining the staffing phase of industrial deployments while also improving the employment and earnings outcomes of the most vulnerable workers in a community.

The IRA encourages such partnerships with provisions that fund community engagement and consultation across several of its programs, including the Environmental and Climate Justice Program block grants (<u>US EPA 2023</u>). These provisions aim to ensure meaningful public participation in the planning and implementation of projects and to provide community stakeholders with the technical assistance to obtain grant funding. Additionally, the IRA provides the Government Accountability Office and the Office

of Management and Budget with the ability to track how IRA programs perform across labor, equity, and environmental standards, including provisions related to community engagement and consultation (198 methods et al.). As a result, there are mechanisms in place to hold IRA program administrators and firms accountable if they fail to involve community stakeholders in the planning and implementation of projects.

Ideally, the IRA would also have enacted sector-wide labor provisions in targeted manufacturing industries, promoting worker power by setting industry wage standards and enabling sectoral bargaining (Bustamante 2023). As noted above, this would have likely required amending the law or overriding court precedents to restore the New Deal equilibrium of the Walsh-Healey Act, which may have been difficult to get through the Senate's difficult reconciliation hurdles. These sector-wide labor provisions could have ensured that firms improve the economic conditions of the communities they enter and built a powerful labor movement to push back against unfair labor practices in the targeted industries. Without such provisions, it is essential that communities organize to secure job quality commitments directly from firms.

#### Conclusion

The Inflation Reduction Act represents a significant opportunity to bolster America's manufacturing capabilities while delivering substantial benefits to local economies. The lessons drawn from these five case studies underscore the importance of community-centered approaches in implementing industrial policy. Prioritizing early and regular engagement and democratic governance of these investments will not only enhance the economic benefits for local labor markets but also build stronger, more resilient communities.

Maximizing the local economic benefits of industrial policy investments means addressing structural barriers that prevent disadvantaged workers from accessing good jobs. That will require robust workforce development measures and strategic efforts to connect marginalized workers to training opportunities and secure job quality commitments directly from firms. By doing so, policymakers and firms can ensure that these investments lead to inclusive and sustainable economic growth for the communities they serve.

#### References

- 198 methods et al. 2023. Letter to Shalanda D. Young, Gene L. Dodaro, John Podesta, Ali Zaidi, James Comer, Jamie Raskin, Gary Peters, and Rand Paul. February 15, 2023. <a href="https://www.sierraclub.org/sites/www.sierraclub.org/files/2023-02/IRA-standards-oversight-letter-OMB-GAO-FINAL-20230215.2.pdf">https://www.sierraclub.org/files/2023-02/IRA-standards-oversight-letter-OMB-GAO-FINAL-20230215.2.pdf</a>.
- Acemoglu, Daron, and David Autor. 2011. "Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings." In *Handbook of Labour Economics*, 1043–1171. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-7218(11)02410-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-7218(11)02410-5</a>.
- Amy, Jeff. 2023a. "Major Solar Panel Plant Opens in US Amid Backdrop of Industry Worries About Low-Priced Asian Imports." Associated Press, October 18, 2023, sec. Business. <a href="https://apnews.com/article/us-solar-panel-plant-hanwha-qcells-georgia-c7717cef3435a2c3197261edf6d0272f">https://apnews.com/article/us-solar-panel-plant-hanwha-qcells-georgia-c7717cef3435a2c3197261edf6d0272f</a>.
- 2023b. "Hyundai and LG Announce \$4.3 Billion Plant in Georgia to Build Batteries for Electric Vehicles." Associated Press, May 26, 2023. <a href="https://apnews.com/article/hyundai-lg-electric-vehicles-batteries-georgia-db44d911b3dae0fbf454cb53503ce84c#">https://apnews.com/article/hyundai-lg-electric-vehicles-batteries-georgia-db44d911b3dae0fbf454cb53503ce84c#</a>.
- Anderson, John. 2023. "SLCC Collaborates with First Solar to Power Workforce Development." The Daily Iberian, August 28, 2023. <a href="https://www.thedailyiberian.com/news/slcc-collaborates-with-first-solar-to-power-workforce-development/article\_41d97c9c-3e02-11ee-addf-830cbb0dfe07.html">https://www.thedailyiberian.com/news/slcc-collaborates-with-first-solar-to-power-workforce-development/article\_41d97c9c-3e02-11ee-addf-830cbb0dfe07.html</a>.
- Archote, Josh. 2023. "New Scout Plant Could Be Uaw Target as Union Expands Efforts to SC." Post and Courier Columbia. December 3, 2023. <a href="https://www.postandcourier.com/columbia/unitedautoworkers-uaw-unions-manufacturing-scout-volvo-bmw-auto-industry/article\_0e624bfe-8d54-11ee-854f-3ff50be78db6.html">https://www.postandcourier.com/columbia/unitedautoworkers-uaw-unions-manufacturing-scout-volvo-bmw-auto-industry/article\_0e624bfe-8d54-11ee-854f-3ff50be78db6.html</a>.
- Battle Creek Unlimited. n.d. "30 Largest Employers." <a href="https://bcunlimited.org/why-battle-creek/major-employers/">https://bcunlimited.org/why-battle-creek/major-employers/</a>.
- Business Wire. 2023. "First Solar Breaks Ground on \$1.1 Billion, 3.5 GW Louisiana Manufacturing Facility." Business Wire, September 21, 2023. <a href="https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20230921973269/en/First-Solar-Breaks-Ground-on-1.1-Billion-3.5-GW-Louisiana-Manufacturing-Facility">https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20230921973269/en/First-Solar-Breaks-Ground-on-1.1-Billion-3.5-GW-Louisiana-Manufacturing-Facility</a>.
- Bustamante, Alí R. 2023. "Balancing Power between Workers and Employers Requires Sectoral Bargaining." Roosevelt Institute, July 13, 2023. <a href="https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/balancing-power-between-workers-and-employers/">https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/balancing-power-between-workers-and-employers/</a>.
- Cardwell, Diane, and Clifford Krauss. 2017. "A Big Test for Big Batteries." New York Times, January 14, 2017, sec. Energy and Environment. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/14/business/energy-environment/california-big-batteries-as-power-plants.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/14/business/energy-environment/california-big-batteries-as-power-plants.html</a>.
- Childers, Chandra. 2024. The Evolution of the Southern Economic Development Strategy. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute. <a href="https://www.epi.org/publication/rooted-racism-part1/">https://www.epi.org/publication/rooted-racism-part1/</a>.
- Chips and Science Act, H.R. 4346, 117th Cong. (2022). <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/buse-bill/4346">https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/buse-bill/4346</a>.
- Choose Marshall. n.d. "Training Today for Jobs Now and Long into the Future." <a href="https://choosemarshall.com/training/">https://choosemarshall.com/training/</a>.

- Crapuchettes, Jonathan, Hank Robison, and Deacon James. 2017. "EMSI Multi-Regional Social Accounting Matrix (MR-SAM) Modeling System." Lightcase. March 30, 2017. <a href="https://kb.lightcast.io/en/articles/6957462-input-output-model-documentation-i-o">https://kb.lightcast.io/en/articles/6957462-input-output-model-documentation-i-o</a>.
- DeMaria, Kyle, Theresa Dunne, Ashley Putnam, and Keith Wardrip. 2024. Occupational Segregation and the Role of the Public Workforce System: An Examination of Individual Training Accounts. Philadelphia, PA: Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. <a href="https://www.philadelphiafed.org/community-development/workforce-and-economic-development/occupational-segregation-and-the-role-of-the-public-workforce-system">https://www.philadelphiafed.org/community-development/workforce-and-economic-development/occupational-segregation-and-the-role-of-the-public-workforce-system</a>.
- Donahue, Charles. 1964. "The Davis-Bacon Act and the Walsh-Healey Public Contracts Act: A Comparison of Coverage and Minimum Wage Provisions." Law and Contemporary Problems 29, no. 2 (spring): 488–513. https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/lcp/vol29/iss2/12/.
- Estevez, Isabel. 2023. "Multi-Solving, Trade-Offs, and Conditionalities in Industrial Policy." Roosevelt Institute, October 26, 2023. <a href="https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/multi-solving-trade-offs-and-conditionalities-in-industrial-policy/">https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/multi-solving-trade-offs-and-conditionalities-in-industrial-policy/</a>.
- Federal Open Market Committee. 2024. "June 12, 2024: FOMC Projections Materials, Accessible Version." Federal Reserve. Last updated June 12, 2024. <a href="https://www.federalreserve.gov/monetarypolicy/fomcprojtabl20240612.htm">https://www.federalreserve.gov/monetarypolicy/fomcprojtabl20240612.htm</a>.
- Federal Reserve Economic Data (FRED). 2024a. "Unemployment Data." Federal Reserve Reserve Bank of St. Louis, June 7, 2024. https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/UNRATE.
- 2024b. "Employment Level." Federal Reserve Reserve Bank of St. Louis, June 7, 2024. <a href="https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/CE16OV">https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/CE16OV</a>.
- 2024c. "Average Hourly Earnings of All Employees, Total Private." Federal Reserve Reserve Bank of St. Louis, June 7, 2024. https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/CES0500000003.
- Fulcher, Albert. 2023. "Chula Vista Battery Storage Facility a Template for Others." *The Star News*, November 18, 2023. <a href="https://www.thestarnews.com/chula-vista-battery-storage-facility-a-template-for-others/">https://www.thestarnews.com/chula-vista-battery-storage-facility-a-template-for-others/</a>.
- Georgia Business Journal. n.d. "Qcells Invests \$2.5 Billion to Solar Module Manufacturing in Georgia." Georgia Business Journal. <a href="https://gbj.com/story/qcells-invests-2-5-billion-to-solar-module-manufacturing-in-georgia">https://gbj.com/story/qcells-invests-2-5-billion-to-solar-module-manufacturing-in-georgia</a>.
- Geuss, Megan. 2017. "Largest Grid-Tied Lithium Ion Battery System Deployed Today in San Diego." Ars Technica, February 24, 2017. <a href="https://arstechnica.com/science/2017/02/as-ca-bill-aims-for-100-renewable-by-2050-utility-starts-30mw-battery-system/">https://arstechnica.com/science/2017/02/as-ca-bill-aims-for-100-renewable-by-2050-utility-starts-30mw-battery-system/</a>.
- Goldman Sachs. 2023. "The US Is Poised for an Energy Revolution." Goldman Sachs, April 17, 2023. <a href="https://www.goldmansachs.com/intelligence/pages/the-us-is-poised-for-an-energy-revolution.html">https://www.goldmansachs.com/intelligence/pages/the-us-is-poised-for-an-energy-revolution.html</a>.
- Gould, Elise, and Katherine deCourcy. 2024. Fastest Wage Growth over the Last Four Years among Historically Disadvantaged Groups. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute. <a href="https://www.epi.org/publication/swa-wages-2023/">https://www.epi.org/publication/swa-wages-2023/</a>.
- Grzelewski, Jordyn, Riley Beggin, and Kalea Hall. 2023. "Ford to Announce \$2.5B Battery Plant in Marshall with Chinese Partner." The Detroit News, February 10, 2023. <a href="https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/2023/02/10/ford-battery-plant-marshall-with-chinese-partner-contemporary-amperex-technology/69892060007/">https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/2023/02/10/ford-battery-plant-marshall-with-chinese-partner-contemporary-amperex-technology/69892060007/</a>.

- Hall, Robert E., and Sam Schulhofer-Wohl. 2018. "Measuring Job-Finding Rates and Matching Efficiency with Heterogeneous Jobseekers." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 10, no. 1 (January). <a href="https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/mac.20170061">https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/mac.20170061</a>.
- Holdman, Jessica. 2024. "SC Readying Training for EV Workers across the State. Here's What Job Seekers Can Expect." News From The States, Feb 26, 2024, sec. Economy. <a href="https://www.newsfromthestates.com/article/sc-readying-training-ev-workers-across-state-heres-what-job-seekers-can-expect.">https://www.newsfromthestates.com/article/sc-readying-training-ev-workers-across-state-heres-what-job-seekers-can-expect.</a>
- Horpedahl, Jeremy. 2023. "2023: Great Labor Market, or Greatest Labor Market?" Economist Writing Everyday, December 27, 2023. <a href="https://economistwritingeveryday.com/2023/12/27/2023-great-labor-market-or-greatest-labor-market/">https://economistwritingeveryday.com/2023/12/27/2023-great-labor-market-or-greatest-labor-market/</a>.
- Inflation Reduction Act, H.R. 5376, 117th Cong. (2022). <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/bouse-bill/5376/text">https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/bouse-bill/5376/text</a>.
- Juhász, Réka, Nathaniel Lane, and Dani Rodrik. 2023. "The New Economics of Industrial policy." Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR), Vox.EU. December 4, 2023. <a href="https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/new-economics-industrial-policy">https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/new-economics-industrial-policy</a>.
- Kochhar, Rakesh. 2023. Which US Workers Are Exposed to AI on Their Jobs? Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2023/07/26/which-u-s-workers-are-more-exposed-to-ai-on-their-jobs/">https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2023/07/26/which-u-s-workers-are-more-exposed-to-ai-on-their-jobs/</a>.
- Korman, Nina. 2023. "First Solar Breaks Ground on \$1.1 Billion Louisiana Facility." Solar Industry Mag, September 21, 2023, sec. Manufacturing. <a href="https://solarindustrymag.com/first-solar-breaks-ground-on-1-1-billion-louisiana-facility">https://solarindustrymag.com/first-solar-breaks-ground-on-1-1-billion-louisiana-facility</a>.
- Lavelle, Marianne. 2024. "South Carolina Welcomes Multibillion Dollar Electric Vehicle Projects, Even Though Many Echo Trump's Harsh EV Critiques." *Inside Climate News*, February 24, 2024, sec. Clean Energy. <a href="https://insideclimatenews.org/news/24022024/south-carolina-electric-vehicle-projects-many-echo-trumps-harsh-critiques/">https://insideclimatenews.org/news/24022024/south-carolina-electric-vehicle-projects-many-echo-trumps-harsh-critiques/</a>.
- Lawrence, Eric D. 2023. "UAW Statement on \$2B VW Plant Highlights Right of Workers to Organize." Detroit Free Press, March 6, 2023. <a href="https://www.freep.com/story/money/cars/2023/03/06/uaw-vw-scout-motors-south-carolina/69978582007/">https://www.freep.com/story/money/cars/2023/03/06/uaw-vw-scout-motors-south-carolina/69978582007/</a>.
- LeBlanc, Beth, and Breana Noble. 2023. "Ford to Move Forward with Scaled Down Marshall EV Battery Plant." The Detroit News, November 21, 2023. <a href="https://eu.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/ford/2023/11/21/ford-motor-company-electric-vehicle-battery-plant-marshall-michigan-ev-demand-slowed/71664194007/">https://eu.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/ford/2023/11/21/ford-motor-company-electric-vehicle-battery-plant-marshall-michigan-ev-demand-slowed/71664194007/</a>.
- Lightcast. "Lightcast's Input-Output (I-O) Model." Retrieved June 2024, from <a href="https://kb.lightcast.io/en/articles/6957462-input-output-model-documentation-i-o">https://kb.lightcast.io/en/articles/6957462-input-output-model-documentation-i-o</a>.
- Louisiana Economic Development. n.d. "Setting the Standard LED FastStart." opportunitylouisiana.gov. Accessed June 18, 2024. <a href="https://www.opportunitylouisiana.gov/incentive/led-faststart">https://www.opportunitylouisiana.gov/incentive/led-faststart</a>.
- Macaluso, Claudia, and Sonya Ravindranath Waddell. 2022. "Changing Recruiting Practices and Methods in the Tight Labor Market." Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, No. 22-36. September 2022. https://www.richmondfed.org/publications/research/economic\_brief/2022/eb\_22-36.
- Naidu, Suresh, and Aaron Sojourner. 2020. Employer Power and Employee Skills: Understanding Workforce Training Programs in the Context of Labor Market Power. New York: Roosevelt Institute. <a href="https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/employer-power-employee-skills-workforce-training-programs-labor-market-power/">https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/employer-power-employee-skills-workforce-training-programs-labor-market-power/</a>.

- National Center for O\*NET Development. "O\*NET 28.3 Database." Retrieved June 2024, from <a href="https://www.onetcenter.org/database.html">https://www.onetcenter.org/database.html</a>.
- Nikolewski, Rob. 2022. "How Eight School Buses Are Helping during Power Shortages: They're Transporting Electrons." Los Angeles Times, July 27, 2022, Business. <a href="https://www.latimes.com/business/story/2022-07-27/electric-school-buses-in-el-cajon-will-send-power-to-the-grid">https://www.latimes.com/business/story/2022-07-27/electric-school-buses-in-el-cajon-will-send-power-to-the-grid</a>.
- Norris, Steven. 2023. "\$2.3B Qcells Solar Power Investment Holds Major Potential for Georgia." Georgia Tech, January 23, 2023. <a href="https://research.gatech.edu/23b-qcells-solar-power-investment-holds-major-potential-georgia">https://research.gatech.edu/23b-qcells-solar-power-investment-holds-major-potential-georgia</a>.
- Penn, Ivan. 2023. "Korean Solar Company Plans to Build \$2.5 Billion Plant in Georgia." New York Times, January 11, 2023, sec. Energy and Environment. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/11/business/energy-environment/qcells-solar-panel-factory-georgia.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/11/business/energy-environment/qcells-solar-panel-factory-georgia.html</a>.
- Pitchure, Autumn. 2024. "Ford Hopes to Recruit Marshall Students in Skilled Trades at EV Battery Park." Up North Live. April 11, 2024. <a href="https://upnorthlive.com/news/local/ford-hopes-to-recruit-marshall-students-at-ev-battery-park-maeda-marshall-area-economic-development-alliance-kellogg-community-college#">https://upnorthlive.com/news/local/ford-hopes-to-recruit-marshall-students-at-ev-battery-park-maeda-marshall-area-economic-development-alliance-kellogg-community-college#</a>.
- Rodgers, William M., III, and Alice L. Kassens. 2022. "What Is the Key to Improving Worker Resiliency in the Labor Market?" On the Economy (blog). Federal Reserve of St. Louis. August 30, 2022. <a href="https://www.stlouisfed.org/on-the-economy/2022/aug/key-improving-worker-resiliency-labor-market">https://www.stlouisfed.org/on-the-economy/2022/aug/key-improving-worker-resiliency-labor-market</a>.
- Schilling, Erin. 2023. "SK Battery Now One of Georgia's Largest Manufacturers." Atlanta Business Chronicle, September 11, 2023, sec. Manufacturing. <a href="https://www.bizjournals.com/atlanta/news/2023/09/11/sk-battery-now-one-of-georgias-largest-employers.html">https://www.bizjournals.com/atlanta/news/2023/09/11/sk-battery-now-one-of-georgias-largest-employers.html</a>.
- Shih, WIlly C. 2023. "The New Era of Industrial Policy Is Here: Are You Prepared?" *Harvard Business Review*, September-October 2023. <a href="https://hbr.org/2023/09/the-new-era-of-industrial-policy-is-here">https://hbr.org/2023/09/the-new-era-of-industrial-policy-is-here</a>.
- Slane, Taylor. 2024. "Department of Energy Grant to Expand Energy Workforce Training at SDSU." San Diego State University. April 16, 2024. <a href="https://www.sdsu.edu/news/2024/04/department-of-energy-grant-to-expand-energy-workforce-training-at-sdsu">https://www.sdsu.edu/news/2024/04/department-of-energy-grant-to-expand-energy-workforce-training-at-sdsu</a>.
- Solar Energy Manufacturing for America Act, S. 2140, 117th Cong. (2022). <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/2140?r=41&s=1">https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/2140?r=41&s=1</a>.
- Southern Environmental Law Center. 2023. "Solar Siting in the South." Chapel Hill, NC: SELC. October 2023. https://www.southernenvironment.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Solar\_Siting\_Report\_1023\_D6-2.pdf.
- South Carolina Office of the Governor. 2022. "Gov. Henry McMaster Signs Executive Order to Coordinate State's Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Roll-Out." News release, October 12, 2022. <a href="https://governor.sc.gov/news/2022-10/gov-henry-mcmaster-signs-executive-order-coordinate-states-electric-vehicle">https://governor.sc.gov/news/2022-10/gov-henry-mcmaster-signs-executive-order-coordinate-states-electric-vehicle</a>.
- Spaulding, Shayne, and David C. Blount. 2018. *Employer Engagement by Community-Based Organizations*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. <a href="https://www.urban.org/research/publication/employer-engagement-community-based-organizations">https://www.urban.org/research/publication/employer-engagement-community-based-organizations</a>.

- Steele, Greyson. 2023. "Nonprofit Names EV Battery Plant in Marshall 'Worst Economic Development Deal." Battle Creek Enquirer, December 6, 2023. https://www.battlecreekenquirer.com/story/news/local/2023/12/06/nonprofit-names-fords-ev-battery-plant-in-marshall-worst-economic-development-deal/71809602007/.
- Takemura, Alison F. 2023. "This Georgia Program Is Training a Huge Cleantech Manufacturing Workforce." *Canary Media*, June 9, 2023. <a href="https://www.canarymedia.com/articles/clean-energy-jobs/this-georgia-program-is-training-a-huge-cleantech-manufacturing-workforce">https://www.canarymedia.com/articles/clean-energy-jobs/this-georgia-program-is-training-a-huge-cleantech-manufacturing-workforce</a>.
- Thomas, Jason. 2024. "Scout Motors Marks Construction Milestone on \$2B Blythewood Plant." *Columbia Regional Business Report*, May 16, 2024. <a href="https://columbiabusinessreport.com/scout-motors-marks-construction-milestone-on-2b-blythewood-plant/">https://columbiabusinessreport.com/scout-motors-marks-construction-milestone-on-2b-blythewood-plant/</a>.
- Toll, Micah. 2022. "Low-Cost Electric Motorcycle Maker Ryvid Lands \$20m to Manufacture in California." Elektrek, December 5, 2022. <a href="https://electrek.co/2022/12/05/ryvid-anthem-grant-motorcycles-california/">https://electrek.co/2022/12/05/ryvid-anthem-grant-motorcycles-california/</a>.
- Tucker, Todd. 2019. *Industrial Policy and Planning: What It Is and How to Do It Better.* New York: Roosevelt Institute <a href="https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/industrial-policy-and-planning/">https://rooseveltinstitute.org/publications/industrial-policy-and-planning/</a>.
- University of Louisiana Lafayette. 2022. "University to Break Ground on Louisiana Solar Energy Lab." News release, January 31, 2022. <a href="https://louisiana.edu/news-events/news/20220131/university-break-ground-louisiana-solar-energy-lab">https://louisiana.edu/news-events/news/20220131/university-break-ground-louisiana-solar-energy-lab</a>.
- \_\_\_\_\_ 2023. "Newly Announced First Solar Facility Will Rely on UL Lafayette Research, Grads." News release, August 10, 2023. https://louisiana.edu/news/newly-announced-first-solar-facility-will-rely-ullafayette-research-grads.
- US Bureau of Labor Statistics. n.d. "Number of Unemployed Persons per Job Opening, Seasonally Adjusted." Data Tools, Charts and Applications, Charts for Economic News Releases. <a href="https://www.bls.gov/charts/job-openings-and-labor-turnover/unemp-per-job-opening.htm">https://www.bls.gov/charts/job-openings-and-labor-turnover/unemp-per-job-opening.htm</a>.
- 2023. "Industry-Occupation Matrix Data, by Industry." Employment Projections. Last updated September 6, 2023. https://www.bls.gov/emp/tables/industry-occupation-matrix-industry.htm.
- 2024. "News Release Union Members 2023." US Bureau of Labor Statistics, USDL-24-0096. January 23, 2024. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/union2.pdf.
- US Department of Energy (DOE). 2024. "Building America's Clean Energy Future." Energy.gov, Invest. Last updated May 21, 2024. https://www.energy.gov/invest.
- 2024. "DOE and DOL Announce New Effort to Support and Expand America's Battery Workforce." News release, March 26, 2024. <a href="https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-and-dol-announce-new-effort-support-and-expand-americas-battery-workforce">https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-and-dol-announce-new-effort-support-and-expand-americas-battery-workforce</a>.
- US Department of Labor (DOL). 2023. "Davis-Beacon and Related Acts." Wage and Hour Divisions, Government Contracts Compliance Assistance. <a href="https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts/construction">https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts/construction</a>.
- 2024. "Prevailing Wage and the Inflation Reduction Act." Wage and Hour Division. <a href="https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/IRA">https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/IRA</a>.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2023. "Inflation Reduction Act Environmental and Climate Justice Program." Inflation Reduction Act, Last Updated November 21, 2023. <a href="https://www.epa.gov/inflation-reduction-act/inflation-reduction-act-environmental-and-climate-justice-program">https://www.epa.gov/inflation-reduction-act/inflation-reduction-act-environmental-and-climate-justice-program</a>.

- White House. 2023a. "FACT SHEET: One Year after the CHIPS and Science Act, Biden-Harris Administration Marks Historic Progress in Bringing Semiconductor Supply Chains Home, Supporting Innovation, and Protecting National Security." Briefing Room, Statements and Releases. August 9, 2023. <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/09/fact-sheet-one-year-after-the-chips-and-science-act-biden-harris-administration-marks-historic-progress-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-supporting-innovation-and-protecting-national-s/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/09/fact-sheet-one-year-after-the-chips-and-science-act-biden-harris-administration-marks-historic-progress-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-supporting-innovation-and-protecting-national-s/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/09/fact-sheet-one-year-after-the-chips-and-science-act-biden-harris-administration-marks-historic-progress-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-supporting-innovation-and-protecting-national-s/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/09/fact-sheet-one-year-after-the-chips-and-science-act-biden-harris-administration-marks-historic-progress-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-supporting-innovation-and-protecting-national-s/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/09/fact-sheet-one-year-after-the-chips-and-science-act-biden-harris-administration-marks-historic-progress-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-supporting-innovation-and-protecting-national-s/"
- 2023b. "FACT SHEET: One Year In, President Biden's Inflation Reduction Act is Driving Historic Climate Action and Investing in America to Create Good Paying Jobs and Reduce Costs." Briefing Room, Statements and Releases. August 16, 2023. <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/16/fact-sheet-one-year-in-president-bidens-inflation-reduction-act-is-driving-historic-climate-action-and-investing-in-america-to-create-good-paying-jobs-and-reduce-costs/.">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/08/16/fact-sheet-one-year-in-president-bidens-inflation-reduction-act-is-driving-historic-climate-action-and-investing-in-america-to-create-good-paying-jobs-and-reduce-costs/.</a>
- White, Joseph. 2023. "Ford Scales Back Michigan Battery Plant, Restarts Construction." Reuters, November 21, 2023. <a href="https://www.reuters.com/business/autos-transportation/ford-scales-back-michigan-battery-plant-restarts-construction-2023-11-21/">https://www.reuters.com/business/autos-transportation/ford-scales-back-michigan-battery-plant-restarts-construction-2023-11-21/</a>.
- Williams, Taylor. 2023. "First Solar Breaks Ground on \$1.1B Manufacturing Facility in Iberia Parish, Louisiana." Rebusiness Online, September 25, 2023. <a href="https://rebusinessonline.com/first-solar-breaks-ground-on-1-1b-manufacturing-facility-in-iberia-parish-louisiana/">https://rebusinessonline.com/first-solar-breaks-ground-on-1-1b-manufacturing-facility-in-iberia-parish-louisiana/</a>.

